

Designing US health insurance from scratch: A proposal for universal basic coverage

Liran Einav and Amy Finkelstein



OCTOBER 2023

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This proposal is a distillation of the ideas in our book, *We've Got You Covered: Rebooting American Health Care*, (Einav and Finkelstein 2023a) and we are grateful to the many people who provided valuable input on that book, particularly our editor Merry Sun and our agent Margo Fleming. We also thank Wendy Edelberg and the participants in the author's conference for helpful feedback.

MISSION STATEMENT

The Hamilton Project seeks to advance America's promise of opportunity, prosperity, and growth.

We believe that today's increasingly competitive global economy demands public policy ideas commensurate with the challenges of the 21st Century. The Project's economic strategy reflects a judgment that long-term prosperity is best achieved by fostering economic growth and broad participation in that growth, by enhancing individual economic security, and by embracing a role for effective government in making needed public investments.

Our strategy calls for combining public investment, a secure social safety net, and fiscal discipline. In that framework, the Project puts forward innovative proposals from leading economic thinkers—based on credible evidence and experience, not ideology or doctrine—to introduce new and effective policy options into the national debate.

The Project is named after Alexander Hamilton, the nation's first Treasury Secretary, who laid the foundation for the modern American economy. Hamilton stood for sound fiscal policy, believed that broad-based opportunity for advancement would drive American economic growth, and recognized that "prudent aids and encouragements on the part of government" are necessary to enhance and guide market forces. The guiding principles of the Project remain consistent with these views.





Designing US health insurance from scratch: A proposal for universal basic coverage

Liran Einav

Stanford University

Amy Finkelstein

Massachusetts Institute of Technology

October 2023

BROOKINGS

Abstract

U.S. health insurance policy has proceeded incrementally, and haphazardly, for over half a century. In this proposal we consider what an ideal system would look like, freed from political, but not economic, constraints. We start by articulating the goal behind our policy history, arguing that it reflects an attempt to fulfill a societal commitment to try to provide access to essential health care regardless of resources. From this perspective, we identify three fundamental issues with the state of U.S. health insurance coverage: the uninsured, the widespread risk of insurance loss for those who have insurance at any given moment, and the potential for catastrophic medical bills even for those who maintain their coverage. The solution we propose is universal basic coverage, with an option to buy supplemental coverage in a well-designed market. The universal coverage would be provided automatically and for free—without any patient fees—but it would be quite basic, similar to what Medicaid enrollees currently receive. A budget would be set and imposed to force decisions about what is included in that basic coverage.

Contents

I. Introduction	1
II. The challenge	2
A. Key problems	2
B. Why start from scratch?	3
C. Defining goals	5
III. The proposal	7
A. Universal coverage that is automatic, free to the patient, and basic	7
B. Supplemental coverage	10
IV. Questions and concerns	13
How much will this cost the taxpayer?	13
What medical care would be included in basic coverage?	13
How close is what you're proposing to Medicare for All? What about Medicaid for All?	13
What about the design details?	14
Which country's health insurance system does your proposal most resemble?	15
How will your proposal reduce the high levels of waste in U.S. health care?	15
How can this happen politically?	15
Endnotes	16
References	17

I. Introduction

There's no shortage of proposals for U.S. health insurance reform. They invariably focus on the 30 million¹ Americans who lack insurance at any given moment. But the U.S. health insurance problems are much more deep-rooted than that, extending to most of the remaining 90 percent of Americans who currently have insurance. Many live with the constant danger of losing that coverage if they lose their job, give birth, get older, get healthier, get richer, or move. And even if they manage to maintain their insurance, most insured Americans can still face enormous medical bills for their "covered" care.

In other words, the coverage we do have is a universal mess. It is nonsensical by design or, more accurately, by lack of design. It was never deliberately planned as a coherent system. Rather, it has emerged haphazardly, with different parts created at different times to deal with different issues that got thrust into the limelight when a particular policy window opened.

These incremental policy patches, though they have given many Americans health insurance coverage at least temporarily, have still left us with a system with large gaps. Individuals can lose coverage, often without realizing their eligibility had changed from one type of coverage to another. Others fail to reconfirm their continued eligibility for their current program, or they do not manage to even enroll in free coverage for which they are eligible in the first place.

In this proposal we consider what an ideal system would look like if we could start from scratch, freed from political—but of course not economic—constraints. The goal is to provide a "north star" that can be used to assess alternative policy proposals, both radical and incremental. To do so, it is imperative to begin by defining the goal of U.S. health policy. It's shocking to us how much of the debate over U.S. health insurance reform never clearly articulates its goal. We can't argue about the solution until we define—and hopefully agree on—the problem we are trying to solve.

We argue that the purpose of U.S. health insurance policy is to fulfill a long-standing societal commitment to try to provide access to essential health care regardless of resources. Whether or not one agrees that this is what our social contract should be, our policy history makes it clear that it is the de facto social contract under which the U.S. operates.

Our proposal follows naturally from this social contract. Once we recognize that we always have, and always will, attempt to provide access to medical care to those who are ill and cannot provide it for themselves, the only solution is to formalize that commitment up front with insurance coverage. This is an argument for universal coverage. It is not a new argument but one that has been recognized and embraced by intellectuals and politicians across the political spectrum.

Our proposal has two key principles: universal coverage for a basic set of medical services and the option to buy additional, supplemental coverage in a well-designed market. This two-part solution is dictated by a social contract that requires a standard of adequacy but not equality. Hence, a basic, adequate set of medical services would be universally covered, and individuals would also have the option to top it up and buy more.

There's something in our proposal to upset everyone. We'll emphasize that all medical care included in basic coverage must be provided to patients for free; this is heresy to the economics profession and to the many countries that have followed economists' advice and tried to make patients pay out of pocket for part of the cost of their universally covered care. But we'll also insist that basic coverage should be just that: basic. There is a lot of medical care that is desirable but not essential and can be left out of basic coverage. The same goes for many nonmedical aspects of care: the ability to see the doctor of your choice at your preferred timing and location, or semiprivate hospital rooms.

Keeping basic coverage basic will keep the cost to the taxpayer down. Yet, another key element for controlling government health care spending will be a budget for publicly funded health care. Remarkably and absurdly—the U.S. government has never actually had a health care budget that caps the amount it can spend on medical care. This also has to change.

Our discussion and proposal synthesize the arguments we set forth in our recent book, *We've Got You Covered: Rebooting American Health Care* (Einav and Finkelstein 2023a).

1

II. The challenge

Health insurance is an economic product, not a medical one. Its purpose is to provide financial protection against the high medical expenses that often accompany acute sickness or chronic poor health. This ensures that individuals do not need to forgo essential medical care or cut back on housing, food, or clothing in order to afford the medical care they need. Viewed from this perspective, the American health insurance "system" has failed.

A. Key problems

Policy attention tends to focus on the 30 million Americans who lack health insurance at a given point in time (Keisler-Starkey and Bunch 2020). This is, of course, a very real and important problem. But the focus on the uninsured masks two other critical problems faced by the remaining 90 percent of Americans who are fortunate enough to have health insurance at any given moment: (1) high out-of-pocket medical expenses for their so-called covered care and (2) the constant risk of losing this coverage.

High out-of-pocket medical expenses.

As a financial product that is supposed to protect its customers against large medical expenses, most U.S. health insurance coverage scores poorly. Every year, about one-quarter of nonelderly American households report trouble paying their medical bills. In more than half of these households, the person who incurred the bill was insured when treatment began and often remained insured throughout their treatment (Hamel et al. 2016).

Medical debt is enormous. In early 2020—before the Covid pandemic started—there was \$140 billion in unpaid medical bills held by collection agencies. To put that number in perspective, that's more than the amount held by collection agencies for all other consumer debt from nonmedical sources combined (Kluender et al. 2021). And here's the really shocking part: three-fifths of that debt was incurred by households with health insurance (see figure 1).

Partly, this reflects a trend toward higher cost sharing in private health insurance plans. High-deductible health insurance plans, in which the patient must pay the first couple thousand (or more) dollars of any medical spending for the year, are increasingly common. By 2019, almost one in three workers with employer-provided health insurance were in such plans (Claxton et al. 2020). Another big source of high out-of-pocket medical expenses for the privately insured is the designation by the insurer that certain doctors and hospitals are "out of network." In this case, the amount the patient has to pay out of their own pocket is typically two to three times higher than it otherwise would be (Cooper and Scott Morton 2016; Cooper, Scott Morton, and Shekita 2020).

Even among the elderly, all of whom have health insurance, about 10 percent report that they have unpaid medical debt (Bennett et al. 2021). In 2016 those enrolled in traditional Medicare spent, on average, over \$5,000 out of their own pocket for their medical care, and a guarter of traditional Medicare enrollees spent 25 percent or more of their income on medical care (Cubanski et al. 2019). These gaps are no accident. They reflect a deliberate decision by the government to make traditional Medicare patients pay for some of their medical care.² In fact, traditional Medicare's design leaves its "insured" patients exposed to unlimited medical bills, with no limit to how much they may have to pay in doctors' bills. Every time they see a doctor, they are on the hook for 20 cents of every dollar of their bill, no matter how high those bills get. That's not how well-designed insurance should work.

Uncertain coverage.

A second critical issue for those who have insurance is its uncertainty. Insurance is supposed to provide a measure of economic security and certainty in an uncertain world. Yet, perversely, health insurance coverage is itself highly uncertain, and many live with the constant risk of losing their coverage.

Consider this: in any given month, about 12 percent of Americans under 65 years of age are uninsured. But as figure 2 shows, just as many Americans who have insurance will experience some time without insurance coverage over a two-year period. The risk of losing insurance coverage affects all insured Americans under 65, including those who are covered through employer-provided health insurance, Medicaid, or

FIGURE 1 Burden of medical debt by, health insurance status, 2018



Source: Kluender et al. 2021; Survey of Income and Program Participation 2018; authors' calculations.

Note: The left bar considers the set of households who have any medical debt, and shows what share of them are insured or not. The right bar shows the share of total medical debt that is held by households with health insurance and the share held by households without health insurance. Those who are not insured every month are households that reported at least one month of no health insurance coverage in 2018.

HAMILTON BROOKINGS

private health insurance exchanges. And when people lose their health insurance coverage, they typically don't quickly regain coverage. At least half are uninsured six months later, and over one-fifth are still uninsured almost two years later (Einav and Finkelstein 2023b; Gai and Jones 2020).

The 2010 Affordable Care Act substantially reduced the risk of being uninsured in any given month from 20 percent of Americans under 65 to 12 percent—but the risk of an insured individual losing their coverage barely changed (Einav and Finkelstein 2023b). That's an inevitable consequence of the incremental approach to health insurance reform that the U.S. has pursued for over half a century.

B. Why start from scratch?

It's tempting to try to design incremental reforms to fix these problems. Extend coverage to those who still lack formal insurance. Change the laws so that getting sick, getting well, changing jobs, or moving states doesn't come with the risk of losing insurance coverage. Make sure all insurance plans meet some minimum standard for financial protection against large out-of-pocket medical bills.

For more than a half century, we've tried this approach. We've created a series of different programs through which individuals can get free or taxpayersubsidized health insurance if they have the right job, right disease, or right income, or are the right age.

Insurance uncertainty is the inevitable consequence of this patchwork approach. Whenever there are multiple pathways to health insurance coverage, there will always be people who don't find their path or who can't stay on it.

Making people eligible for coverage isn't the same as covering them, even when that coverage is available for free. People can't sign up for programs they don't know about. Moreover, they often have trouble enrolling—or staying enrolled—in the ones that they do learn about. The result is that about 6 out of 10 uninsured Americans are in fact eligible for free or heavily discounted health insurance. Some estimates suggest that over one-quarter of uninsured parents, and as many as three-quarters of uninsured children, are

FIGURE 2 Health insurance coverage



A. Health insurance status



HAMILTON BROOKINGS

eligible for but not enrolled in coverage that would be completely free (Cox and McDermott 2020).

The existing health insurance coverage "system" was never deliberately planned. Rather, it has emerged haphazardly, with different parts created at different times to deal with different issues that got thrust into the limelight. Since the rise of modern medicine and modern medical expenses in the mid-20th century, our health policy history has consisted of an endless series of patches, repeatedly layered on top of a broken system. Inevitably, gaps emerge at the seams, leaving these patches to punch considerably below their weight, even for the narrow set of people they are designed to serve.

Consider, for example, the policy response to the creation of a life-saving new technology in the early 1960s. The development of dialysis—essentially an artificial kidney—offered a possible reprieve from a death sentence for patients whose kidneys had failed. Yet most patients couldn't afford the cost. What ensued was a public outcry, sustained advocacy efforts, and public pressure, including a dramatic moment in which a patient was wheeled in and dialyzed in front of a congressional committee (Blagg 2007; Rettig 2011). Congress ultimately responded in 1972 with legislation

that provided health insurance coverage to patients suffering from end-stage kidney disease. Yet the program will not cover medical care that might prevent kidney disease from progressing to the end stage. And should a patient be fortunate enough to have a successful kidney transplant and recover kidney function, they will lose their coverage—since they no longer have *end-stage* renal disease—despite the fact that they now have to be on immunosuppressant drugs that cost thousands of dollars a month for the rest of their life (Gordon, Prohaska, and Sehgal 2008).³

A similar patch-with-a-catch situation is the 1986 federal law designed to ensure access to care for all patients in the event of a medical emergency. Prompted by outrage over infamous cases in which hospitals refused to treat patients in an emergency—and several decades of failed state and federal efforts to prevent this practice of "patient dumping" (Treiger 1986)— Congress required hospitals to screen all patients who came to the emergency room and to stabilize anyone who had an emergency medical condition, regardless of their ability to pay (Lee 2004). One catch is that nothing prevents the hospital from billing the patient for this emergency care, meaning a life-saving treatment can be followed by life-crushing bills. Another is

Source: Einav and Finkelstein 2023b; Medical Expenditure Panel Surveys 2014-18; authors' calculations. Note: The population is limited to Americans under age 65..

that the hospital is only required to stabilize the patient, not to actually treat the underlying medical issue or ensure they get the proper follow-up care. Hospitals won't actually treat the cancer or the heart disease, just the emergency it happens to produce at that moment. After that, the patient is not their problem—at least until her untreated condition produces the next emergency.

Sometimes the inadequacy of a policy patch will then prompt additional patches. In the 1980s, for example, Congress was confronted with the spectacle of people who could not afford cancer screening and were dying from breast and cervical cancer that would have been treatable if caught earlier. Faced with low screening rates in low-income communities, in 1990 Congress provided funds to pay for breast and cervical cancer screening (Lee et al. 2014). As a result, screenings increased substantially. But this success highlighted the program's flawed conception: it paid to detect cancer but not to treat it. Powerful advocacy groups-including the National Breast Cancer Coalition and the American Cancer Society-mobilized for change. They argued that it was unethical to diagnose people with a disease without providing them with a means to treat it (Lantz, Weisman, and Itani 2003), and eventually succeeded in creating a second patch. In 2000, Medicaid eligibility was expanded to cover women with breast or cervical cancer. That is, a woman is covered as long as she is the "right age" and her cancer is diagnosed at a clinic funded through the original program, in a state that offers this optional Medicaid program. And, of course, if her cancer goes into remission, her coverage then ends (Kaiser Family Foundation [KFF] 2019b).

That's not how health insurance is supposed to function. This has to change.

C. Defining goals

To do so, we must start by defining the goal. What is the problem that fundamental health insurance reform should be designed to solve? We can't engage in design until we are clear on its purpose.

There are, of course, many possible reasons for government to get involved with health insurance policy: to improve people's health and well-being, to ensure that access to medical care shouldn't depend on income, and because Adam Smith's "invisible hand" can't work its magic in the medical marketplace. The list goes on.

But when we looked carefully, we discovered a need for universal health care that does not stem from any of these familiar reasons. Rather, it is rooted in our unwritten social contract: access to essential health care regardless of resources. The existence of such a contract may be hard to believe in the only high-income country that has not enacted universal health insurance coverage and a society that also advocates for lifting oneself up by the bootstraps. Yet from colonial to modern times, the record is clear: our country has always tried to provide essential medical care to those who are ill and unable to provide for their own care.

In the 18th century, this obligation led then-Secretary Treasury Alexander Hamilton to champion policy that resulted in the brand-new U.S. government creating the world's first national, compulsory, tax-financed health insurance. It was designed for commercial sailors who had 20 cents per month deducted from their wages while at sea, which was handed over to the federal government. This money helped fund the costs of local hospital care for sailors who, upon returning to port cities ill and far from family members, could become burdens on the local communities that felt compelled to care for them (Levinson 2018; Straus 1950).

In the 20th and 21st centuries, this same social norm has been the impetus behind much of our history of sporadic and ad hoc insurance reforms that have created insurance coverage for those whose plight has become politically salient. Laws have created coverage for specific groups: people with particular diseases (at least until they recover), low-income children (until they grow up; Brooks et al. 2020), patients experiencing an emergency (until they are "stabilized"; Lee 2004), pregnant women (until shortly after they give birth; Gomez et al. 2022), hostages and their family members (during their captivity and for a limited time after it; Causey 1990), the disabled (after waiting two years; Social Security Administration 2020), prisoners (until they are released from prison; McDonald 1999), and the list goes on.

This same social contract is also behind the piecemeal slew of policies at the federal, state, and local level that has created a large, complex web of publicly regulated, publicly funded programs that provide free or low-fee care for those who lack formal health insurance. The end result of all these policies is illustrated in figure 3: the nominally "uninsured" receive about fourfifths of the medical care they would get if they were insured. This includes primary care, preventive care, prescription drugs, emergency care, and nonemergency hospital care. And they pay for only about 20 cents on the dollar for that medical care (Finkelstein, Hendren, and Luttmer 2019). In other words, the so-called uninsured are not actually uninsured. Of course, like those with formal insurance, they also aren't well insured. It turns out there's a lot more commonality in the medical care received and (not) paid for by the insured and the uninsured than those labels might suggest.

Once we recognize that we always have, and always will, attempt to provide access to medical care to those who are ill and cannot provide it for themselves,

FIGURE 3

Average annual medical expenditures in the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment, 2009



Source: Finkelstein et al. 2012; authors' calculations.

Note: Data are from the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment and reflect the 2009 average annual medical spending on low-income, non-elderly uninsured adults, and the estimated increase in that spending from gaining Medicaid coverage. Finkelstein et al. (2012) provides more detail.



the only solution is to formalize that commitment up front with insurance coverage. Alexander Hamilton articulated this argument over two centuries ago. Within the last few decades, it has been embraced by American leaders from across the political spectrum as a rationale for universal health insurance coverage. Perhaps most tellingly, even libertarians like Charles Murray, who advocate for universal basic income as a way of taking the money that the government currently spends on social transfer programs and returning it to the American public as cash, support compulsory health insurance. The only restriction he would impose on his proposed \$13,000 annual cash grant is a requirement that \$3,000 of it must be used to purchase catastrophic health insurance (Murray 2016). Otherwise, if someone chooses to spend their income elsewhere and falls ill without the resources to cover their medical care, our history makes the consequences clear. Inevitably, the government will feel compelled to set up policies and procedures to try to provide the essential medical care that the individual cannot afford.

III. The proposal

Our policy proposal for universal basic coverage has two key elements. The first is universal coverage that is automatic, free to the patient, and basic. The second component is a well-functioning marketplace for supplemental coverage, which is available to those who want and can afford more than the basic. We unpack each of these in turn.

A. Universal coverage that is automatic, free to the patient, and basic

Automatic

The United States has already enacted universal coverage; it just hasn't achieved it. When we require people to sign up, not all of them do. To achieve universal coverage, it must be automatic.

The country's experience with the health insurance mandate under the Affordable Care Act makes that clear. Despite the so-called mandate that requires uninsured Americans to purchase coverage on their state's health insurance exchange, about 1 in 10 Americans under 65 years of age remain uninsured (Einav and Finkelstein 2023b).

In contrast, the U.S. experience with automatic Medicare coverage for hospital and physician services has worked much better (Ball 1966). Those who are collecting Social Security are automatically enrolled in Medicare the month they turn 65. Three months before their birthday, they are mailed a Medicare card (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services [CMS] 2018). The result is that virtually all of the elderly have health insurance (Keisler-Starkey and Bunch 2021).

Free

Patients would pay nothing for the basic care provided through universal coverage: no premiums and no patient cost sharing. Our argument against individuals paying health insurance premiums follows directly from the need for coverage to be automatic; requiring people to pay premiums interferes with providing coverage automatically.

Our argument for no patient cost sharing for care covered by the universal basic coverage—no copays, deductibles, or cost sharing—borders on heretical for economists. For a half century, the unambiguous recommendation of our profession has been that patients must pay something for their medical care. Giving patients some financial "skin in the game" means that they will be more judicious in their choice of medical care and health care spending will be lower.

The economic theory is simple: if something becomes more expensive, people will buy less of it. Or in other words, demand curves slope down, as we say in Econ 101. Yet many people, particularly non-economists, have found the idea that patient payments can be used to rein in health care spending to be implausible, even absurd. Medical care, they argue, isn't a "good." No one wants a colonoscopy or chemotherapy (Stone 2011). Rather, the argument goes, the amount of medical care is determined by medical needs (Gladwell 2005). All patient cost sharing does is switch around who pays for that care, moving risk from the insurer to the patient. Some have gone further, arguing that health insurance could even decrease use of medical care, either by improving people's health and increasing the timely and effective use of preventive care and chronic disease management or by getting uninsured individuals out of the expensive emergency room and into cheaper primary care (State of Michigan 2013).

But the empirical evidence is incontrovertible. The demand for medical care is not that different from the demand for other consumer products. When patients must contribute to the cost of their medical care, they use less of that care. This results in fewer visits to the doctor, prescription drugs, hospital admissions, and even fewer visits to the emergency room. We've contributed to this body of research ourselves. We stand by our evidence and that of legions of other economists (review articles that describe some of this evidence include Cutler and Zeckhauser 2000; Einav and Finkelstein 2018; and Finkelstein, Mahoney, and Notowidigdo 2018).

Some of the early evidence on this came from the RAND Health Insurance Experiment in the 1970s, which randomly assigned health insurance products with different cost-sharing provisions across about 2,000

7

nonelderly families for three to five years. The results showed that families assigned to plans with more patient cost sharing used less medical care, and families in the free care plan (with no cost sharing) used the most care. Several decades later, results from the 2008 Oregon Health Insurance Experiment-in which about 10,000 uninsured nonelderly adults below the federal poverty line were randomly assigned Medicaid coverage by the state of Oregon-also found that covering low-income uninsured adults with Medicaid increases health care use across the board. The 2007-2009 Accelerated Benefits Demonstration project-which randomly assigned public health insurance to about 1,000 uninsured adults on Social Security Disability Insurance during their two-year waiting period for Medicare likewise found that those randomly assigned to health insurance coverage used more medical care. There is also a large body of quasi-experimental evidence from policy-induced variation in health insurance coverage that corroborates the same finding.

Often, that additional care—the care that patients wouldn't have gotten had they had to pay for it—is not essential for their health. It's for this reason that economists have consistently advocated for patient cost sharing, which would make patients think twice before rushing to the doctor every time they sneeze or requesting an MRI when they have a crushing headache.

But the experience of the many high-income countries that have followed economists' advice and introduced some cost sharing into their universal basic coverage has laid bare the problem with this received professional wisdom, at least when it comes—as it often does—in the context of universal coverage.

Time and time again, as countries have introduced or increased requirements that patients pay for some portion of their universally covered medical care, they have simultaneously added programs that reduce or eliminate that cost sharing for large sections of the population. The net result has been to add complexity and uncertainty, as well as hassles for patients and administrative costs for the government, with little ultimate impact on how much patients pay for their health care, or on total national health care spending (Zare and Anderson 2013).

In the UK, for example, patients nominally face small copays for vision care, dental care, and prescription drugs. However, there are copious exemptions (Delamoth 2008). These exemptions apply to people with particular diseases, those below certain incomes, individuals below and above certain ages, people with disabilities or work-related injuries, full-time students, women who are pregnant or have recently given birth, and veterans of certain wars. There are different exemptions for different treatments (Rivett 2019). In fact, there are so many exemptions that they have proven to be the rule rather than the exception. In 2019, only about 10 percent of all prescriptions in England involved patient copayments; the rest were dispensed for free (Kulakiewicz, Parkin, and Powell 2022).

Indeed, every high-income country we looked at that has cost sharing in its universal coverage system also has policies to make sure most people don't actually face that cost sharing. A list of Israel's cost-sharing exemptions runs to over six pages long (Clalit 2021). In France, the national health insurance program has high cost sharing but also government programs that cover that cost sharing for low-income individuals, as well as tax subsidies and mandates for employers to offer supplementary coverage (Chevreul et al. 2015; Sagan and Thomson 2016; Zare and Anderson 2013). The end result is that almost everyone in France—95 percent of the population—has coverage for their cost-sharing obligations (Tikkanen et al. 2020a).

U.S. states that tried incorporating small patient fees into Medicaid have had similar experiences. It turned out to be a substantial administrative burden to identify who was required to pay those fees and who qualified for the many exemptions. Sometimes the administrative cost of collecting the fees exceeded the amount to be collected. Many of the fees went unpaid. Some states gave up altogether and discontinued their attempts to impose these fees (Johns and Adler 1993). In several European countries—including Germany, the Netherlands, and Hungary—the government has likewise thrown in the towel and abolished recently introduced attempts to impose cost sharing in their universal basic coverage (Deutcher Budestag 2012; Tambor et al. 2011).

There's a reason for this pervasive tendency to eliminate or cover most of the cost-sharing requirements in universal coverage programs. It stems from the unwritten social contract to provide access to essential health care regardless of resources. It is the same driving force that is behind the American patchwork approach to cobbling together health insurance for 90 percent of the population, just played out in these other countries on the smaller scale of cost sharing for universally covered care.

The lesson is clear. Any medical care that is included in basic coverage must be completely free to the patient. There will always be people who can't manage a \$5 copay for a prescription drug or a \$20 copay for a doctor visit (Gross, Layton, and Prinz 2022). This is why the experience of other countries has shown that attempts to include cost sharing in basic coverage inevitably puts us back in the same mess of trying—and not fully succeeding—to come to the aid of patients who cannot afford the required payments for that basic coverage.

Of course, this argument does not apply to supplemental coverage that covers care not included in the basic package. By definition, anything not covered by the basic package is not essential. Therefore, there is no imperative to make sure everyone can access that care. For supplemental coverage, insurers should be free to impose whatever cost-sharing requirements they wish. In any well-functioning marketplace for supplemental health insurance, cost sharing would be reflected in the pricing of insurance and would thus be internalized by both insurers and potential customers.

Basic

Basic coverage should cover health with minimalist (yet adequate) care and no more; the rest is gravy. The social contract is about providing essential medical care, not providing a high-end experience. An analogy with airline travel may be useful. An airplane's main function is to move its passengers from point A to point B. Almost everyone would prefer more legroom, unlimited checked bags, free food, and high-speed internet. And those who have the money and want to do so can upgrade to business class. But if our social contract were to make sure everyone could fly from A to B, a budget airline would suffice. Anyone who's traveled on one of the low-cost airlines that have transformed airline markets in Europe knows it is not a wonderful experience. But they do get you to your destination without crashing.

Nonmedical amenities would be one aspect by which basic coverage would be limited. There are two distinct words in health care: health and care. When it comes to basic coverage, it's important to separate them. Our social contract is about the health part of health care—maintaining and restoring essential function. But our social contract requires very little when it comes to the care part of health care, all the nonmedical aspects of the experience.

Many countries have taken exactly this approach of separating health from care. In Singapore, for example, hospitals offer a range of hotel-like amenities. The VIP treatment, known as a class A1 ward, gets the patient a single room, with a private attached bath and television; it also comes with air-conditioning, no small matter in Singapore's notoriously hot and humid climate. At the other end of the spectrum, the no-frills accommodation has eight beds in a room, a shared bathroom, and no air-conditioning. Patients can pay out of pocket to upgrade partway or all the way to the VIP treatment (Tikkanen et al. 2020b).

Australia's system is similar. Their universal basic system covers no-frills doctors and clinics with patients paying nothing out of pocket. Those who want more need to pay for it, and the government encourages people to take out private insurance for this. The private insurance primarily improves upon nonmedical aspects of care—fewer people in a room, better food, more choice of physician. Physicians who practice in both systems in Australia describe a more relaxed and high-touch environment at the private hospital, where they can devote more time to establishing a relationship with their patients. But the consensus is that the medical care the public sector hospital delivers, while lacking in amenities, is adequate (Bath 2021; Freed, Turbitt, and Allen 2016; Mihm 2020; Willis and Lewis 2022).

Longer wait times for nonurgent care would be another aspect of basic coverage. In the United States, audit studies have consistently found that patients with Medicaid coverage have to wait longer to get a doctor's appointment than patients with private insurance (Cama et al. 2017; Hsiang et al. 2019; Saloner et al. 2019). But while Medicaid wait times may not be ideal, they nonetheless appear to be reasonable, at least judging by what the U.S. has explicitly delineated to be "reasonable" wait times and travel times for care provided to its veterans through the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA). Its current standards for veterans' limit wait times are 20 days for primary care and mental health care and 28 days for specialty care, with acceptable drive times set at 30 minutes and 60 minutes, respectively (VA 2019). Typical wait times for Medicaid patients fit within these VA standards (Levinson 2014; Saloner et al. 2019). These VA standards in turn seem to fit within the general consensus of what other countries mean by "reasonable access" (OECD 2020; Siciliani, Borowitz, and Moran 2013). Put differently, a universal basic insurance system that had wait times comparable to what many Medicaid patients experience would provide an adequate standard of care.

Finally, with no cost sharing, the insurer would have to play a more active role in determining the essential elements of medical care that a patient should get. The insurer can help reduce costs by eliminating unnecessary medical care that a patient and a physician—who don't bear the financial costs of treatment choices—might otherwise be tempted to try.

It will be important to build this "gatekeeping" role into basic coverage if it is to remain basic. Examples of gatekeeping include requirements that a patient see her primary care provider to determine if a visit to a specialist is warranted as well as requirements for physicians to get prior authorization for certain medical services. These types of gatekeeping are common for most of the currently insured in the United States. By contrast, traditional Medicare imposes essentially no constraints or guardrails on the medical care that patients can seek or physicians can deliver. Rather, it acts as a passive bill payer. Patients with traditional Medicare are free to see whichever doctor they want, and their doctors in turn are free to order whatever tests and procedures they deem warranted (Berenson and Harris 2002; CMS n.d.b.). The originating statute explicitly prohibits Medicare from interfering with the practice of medicine or limiting patient access to physicians (Ball 1995; Berenson and Harris 2002). This will have to change with basic coverage in order to keep costs down.

Controlling costs

Keeping basic coverage basic will keep the cost to the taxpayer down. Yet, another key element for controlling government health care spending will be a budget for publicly funded health care. Remarkably—and absurdly—the U.S. government has never actually had a health care budget that caps the amount it can spend on medical care. This also has to change.

The idea that we should have a federal health care budget is banal. This is what the U.S. government does for most other goods and services it provides, from infrastructure to education. And it is what essentially every other high-income country does (Emanuel 2020; Hacker 2008; White 1995). Typically, these budgets are enforced by implementing cost containment policies if they are exceeded (Paris, Devaux, and Wei 2010).

But a federal health care budget is also radical, as the U.S. government has never had to live within a health care budget (Skinner, Cahan, and Fuchs 2022). Congress tried to set a budget cap for Medicare spending as part of the 1997 Balanced Budget Act, but it never enforced it and ultimately eliminated it on paper as well (Fontenot et al. 2015; Samuel 2015; Wynne 2015).

This lack of a budget has had extraordinary consequences. Fifty years ago, the health care sector in the United States was about the same share of the economy as it was in these other countries. But for the last half century, U.S. health care spending as a share of the economy has grown twice as fast as the average in other high-income countries (OECD 2022; Skinner, Cahan, and Fuchs 2022). Other countries take costs into account (along with "societal values") in deciding what new treatments to cover. Not so with Medicare. By law, it is explicitly forbidden from considering costs in making coverage decisions. As a result, Medicare spending has inexorably grown as a share of both the economy and federal spending.

Only once a clear budget exists can policymakers engage in the tough choices of how to meet it—what new technologies to cover, for example—or whether to raise taxes to expand what is covered. Inevitably, those choices will leave some people wanting more, and that's where supplemental coverage comes in.

B. Supplemental coverage

For many of the currently insured, basic coverage would offer some important advantages. It would provide the certainty of continued coverage that the insured currently lack, and it would eliminate the risk of crushing medical bills that many of the insured face.

Still, for the 60 million people on Medicare, or the 150 million people fortunate enough to have health insurance through an employer (KFF 2019a, 2020), basic coverage would in many respects be a lot more, well, basic. Which is why, just as in airlines, many will want to upgrade their coverage beyond the basic. That is where supplemental coverage will come in. It can allow a patient to "jump the queue" for hip surgery, for example, or to have the surgery performed by their first-choice surgeon, or to recover in a private hospital room.

There are two key design issues with supplemental coverage: how it is priced and how to prevent it from eroding the adequacy of the care provided through basic coverage.

A top-up system

Our proposal would allow people to pay on the margin for supplemental coverage rather than having to repurchase the basic coverage in order to supplement it.

When the government guarantees basic provision of some service-be it health care or education-there are two existing models for how people can upgrade. In one approach, individuals who want more than the taxpayer-financed basic package must purchase an entirely new package, (re)paying for the services the government would have provided through the basic package as well as for any upgrades. That's the approach taken by the British National Health Service (NHS) and the U.S. Medicaid program, among others. The other approach is to allow upgrades so that the patient only pays for the incremental cost of the additional benefits they receive. That's the approach taken by many other countries in their universal coverage programs, including Singapore, Israel, Germany, Switzerland, and the Netherlands. And it's the approach we advocate for on the basic economic principle of efficiency.

One way to implement the upgrade design is to follow the approach that the United States takes in its Medicare program. When individuals want to replace their public Medicare coverage by purchasing private insurance, the private insurer assumes responsibility for all of the basic benefits that would be provided by public Medicare coverage, and the government pays the private insurer what it would have cost the taxpayer to cover the enrollee with the public Medicare plan. In other words, those who are Medicare eligible implicitly receive a voucher, which they can use either to pay for their public Medicare in its entirety or toward paying for a private Medicare plan.

A chief concern with this kind of top-up design is that the government can end up overpaying private insurers to provide basic coverage. This can happen if those who enroll in private plans are healthier—and therefore have lower medical expenses—than those who remain with only basic coverage. Fortunately, there are other tools the government can deploy to try to keep private firms from serving only the cheapest-to-serve customers. In the case of the Medicare program, for example, the government started customizing the payment to a private insurer for covering an enrollee based on the enrollee's medical history, paying the private insurer less to enroll a healthier customer, at least on the dimensions of health the government could observe. Another tool the government introduced is to limit the opportunities people have to switch between public and private plans (Cooper and Triverdi 2012; McGuire and Newhouse 2018; Newhouse and McGuire 2014). What this means is that a healthy customer who chooses private Medicare can no longer switch out when they get an unexpected diagnosis or start to experience joint pain. Although it's not perfect-Medicare enrollees are still about 1.5 percent healthier than public Medicare enrollees (Curto et al. 2021)-the government's payment system for the private Medicare market seems to work pretty well. This may be why it has mostly flown under the radar despite its substantial size. Outside of health policy circles, most people don't realize that two-fifths of Medicare enrollees have exercised their option to leave the public system.

Preventing erosion of basic coverage

Perhaps the biggest danger with supplemental insurance that can pay for "better" versions of what basic coverage would provide is the possibility that its existence will erode the basic coverage to the point where it is no longer fulfilling our social contract. But that isn't a reason to outlaw what every place other than Cuba, North Korea, and a few Canadian provinces allows (Flood and Archibald 2005; Pinker 1999; WSJ 2005). It's not inevitable that supplemental coverage will have deleterious effects on basic coverage, and if it does, there are workable solutions in place.

Supplemental coverage poses two potential types of threats to the basic system: economic and political. From an economic perspective, the supply of highquality medical providers is limited, at least in the medium run. The concern is that the supplementary system may pay physicians and other medical providers more than they are paid in the basic system, in order to attract some of the best doctors and reduce wait times in the supplemental system. And that can mean fewer doctors-or fewer of the best doctors-in the basic system. From a political perspective, if more and more of the higher-income patients opt for private coverage, this can erode political support for the requisite public funding of the basic system. Together, these economic and political forces can leave the basic system struggling to care for some of the most difficult and complex patients.

The experience of many Latin American countries serves as a cautionary tale in both regards. Many have publicly funded universal health care systems that are chronically underfunded and widely considered inadequate. Those who are better off buy into an entirely separate private system in a situation that some have likened to "medical apartheid" (Atun et al. 2015). Likewise in Israel, a government committee that was formed to investigate and address concerns about excessively long wait times for appointments in the basic system concluded that the growth of supplementary coverage—which over 80 percent of the population had—was an important cause of the problems with basic coverage; supplemental coverage had eroded the finances of the basic system as well as public support for that financing (State of Israel 2014).

But the experience of other countries also makes clear that such problems are not inevitable, even when the supplementary system is sizable. In Australia about half of people purchase supplementary insurance (Colombo and Tapay 2003), and in Singapore two-thirds of the population does so. Yet in both cases, coverage under the basic system remains excellent. In Singapore, for example, although the majority of the population has private insurance, about 70 to 80 percent of hospital stays are still delivered through the public system (Singapore Ministry of Health 2020). Indeed, far from being concerned about potential negative impacts of private insurance on the basic system, the Australian government has used tax incentives to explicitly encourage private health insurance purchases as a way to reduce strain on the public system (Colombo and Tapay 2003). Likewise, government policy in the United States has actively encouraged the growth of the private Medicare system (McGuire, Newhouse, and Sinaiko 2011; Patel and Guterman 2017). One reason to encourage supplementary insurance is that it may pay higher prices to doctors and hospitals, relieving some of the funding pressures on the basic system. Indeed, a common argument-sometimes voiced as a complaint-is that private insurance in the United States helps "pay for" the care of publicly insured and uninsured patients (Garthwaite, Gross, and Notowidigdo 2018). We are still waiting for the research that may support that hypothesis, but it-and the actions of the U.S. and Australian government-certainly raises the possibility that a supplementary system can strengthen and support the basic one.

We don't pretend to know the exact ingredients of the "secret sauce" that has allowed Australia and Singapore to stave off the problems that supplemental coverage in Israel created for the basic coverage. But fortunately, we don't have to. The Israeli experience has underscored that when these problems materialize, there are some rather straightforward government solutions, including a funding increase to the basic system and introducing incentives for physicians to work full time in the public system (State of Israel 2014). The UK had already enacted something similar, requiring physicians who want to work for the public system to work at least 40 hours a week in the public system before they do any private consulting (Williams and Buchan 2006). Other countries—including Norway, Denmark, and Portugal—have agreed to pay for patients to go to the private sector if wait times exceed what they have deemed to be the maximum allowable limit (Barros, Cristivao, and Gomes 2013; Bath 2021; Denmark Ministry of Health and Prevention 2008; Gomes 2016; Helse Norge 2019; Siciliani, Borowitz, and Moran 2013). The U.S. Congress has adopted this approach as well for care provided to veterans through the Veterans Administration (VA 2019).

In other words, basic coverage must be adequately funded and physicians sufficiently incentivized to provide care. But this is true regardless of whether supplementary coverage is allowed. As long as we continue monitoring the fulfillment of our social contract with respect to basic coverage, and respond when cracks appear, having a free and active market for supplemental coverage can nicely complement and perhaps even benefit—the basic system.

IV. Questions and concerns

How much will this cost the taxpayer?

Basic coverage will be taxpayer financed. As a result, there's a real possibility that taxes would rise in the United States to finance a universal basic coverage that fulfills our social contract. But that's a choice. Taxes would not need to rise to finance basic coverage.

To see this, consider the level of government health care spending in countries whose basic coverage—automatic coverage with (almost) no consumer payments—looks similar to what we propose. The UK is one example. Canada and Germany are others.

As seen in figure 4, in 2019, total health care spending in these countries was about 8 to 9 percent of their economy, with most of this spending financed by taxpayers. U.S. taxpayers also spent about 9 percent of the economy on health care. To be clear, total spending on health care in the U.S. as a share of national income is much larger than it is in any other country—17 percent in the U.S. in 2019. This contrasts with 12 percent in the next highest spending country that year and an average of 9 percent across OECD countries. However, this higher U.S. spending primarily reflects higher *private* spending, not higher public spending.

What medical care would be included in basic coverage?

The point of basic coverage is to fulfill our social contract to provide access to essential medical care for those who are ill regardless of resources. Therefore, basic coverage must cover all essential medical care for the critically ill, including outpatient care, inpatient care, and emergency care.

Basic coverage must also include primary care and preventive care for those who are not yet critically ill even though they may not be in our revealed social contract. Primary care is cheap, and among insured individuals in the United States, it accounts for only about 5 percent of total health care spending (Kempski and Greiner 2020; Martin et al. 2020). Primary care should be the first point of contact for preventing illness, for diagnosing and treating new medical issues, and for managing ongoing chronic conditions. It makes no sense to commit to provide care once someone is experiencing a medical crisis but not to provide the primary care that could prevent or manage a condition before it becomes a crisis. There's also a set of services that obviously wouldn't be included in basic coverage. Purely cosmetic surgery services are probably the most obvious.

But beyond that, there's a large gray area of care that's not obviously essential medical care but also not obviously outside of the basic coverage. For example, infertility treatment, dental care, vision care, physiotherapy, treatment of erectile dysfunction, various forms of long-term care—the list goes on and on. Here, different countries have made different decisions.

We don't specify coverage of these "gray area" services for several reasons. First, it's an area where reasonable people can disagree, and it's not for us to make those calls. Second, it depends on the budget for basic coverage. And third, this isn't a "one and done" decision. Coverage decisions for the basic coverage will have to be made on an ongoing basis as incomes grow, medical technology improves, and notions of what constitutes disease evolve.

This is why most countries have a formal, multistep process for considering whether to cover new treatments under universal health care. Some countries make these decisions on an "as-needed" basis, while others do it on a preset schedule-annually in the Netherlands, for example, or every five years in Switzerland. They typically use a centralized, two-step process. The first step is a formal assessment phase involving scientific experts that aims to quantify the clinical impacts of the treatment. The ultimate decision, however, relies primarily on a second phase in which other stakeholders-such as health care professionals and government officials-weigh a range of criteria. These include not only the results of that firstphase technical assessment but also of other factors, including "societal values" (Auraaen et al. 2016).

How close is what you're proposing to Medicare for All? What about Medicaid for All?

Our proposal cannot accurately be described as "Medicare for All" nor as "Medicaid for All," yet it does have elements of both. It would preserve the "upgrade"

FIGURE 4 Medical expenditure as a share of GDP, 2019



Note: Public and private total to 2019 health expenditure as a percent of GDP. Public spending is general government health expenditure as a percent of current health expenditure. OECD average is an unweighted average of all OECD members excluding U.S.

approach of the current Medicare program, but basic coverage would eliminate the patient cost sharing in traditional Medicare while involving restrictions on patient and physician choices that traditional Medicare does not have. These restrictions could make basic coverage closer to "Medicaid for All," but unlike the current Medicaid program, people would be able to purchase upgrades without having to repurchase basic coverage.

What about the design details?

There are many additional design questions, and they can be important, both substantively and politically. And they can involve important trade-offs. But their resolution is not a requirement for fulfilling our social contract.

For example, some may ask, would your proposal have a single, public payer, competing private insurers, or both private insurers and a public option? Would providers be paid fee-for-service or through capitation? Would the basic benefit package be uniform nationally (as in Medicare) or allow some state discretion (as in Medicaid)? All of these are on the table. Focusing on the purpose of health insurance policy clarifies not only the essential elements of universal coverage but also what is not essential. As a result, we have deliberately left unspecified many of the health policy debates that loom large in the public zeitgeist. These include the structure of the insurance provision, the design of payment to health care providers, and the role of federalism.

BROOKINGS

It is possible to implement the key elements of our proposal in many different ways. The experience of other countries makes this clear. Take the question of who provides the insurance, for example. Countries like the UK and Canada have a single-payer, public health insurance system, akin to the U.S. coverage for veterans. However, countries like Switzerland, Israel, and the Netherlands provide universal basic coverage through multiple, private insurers, akin to Medicare coverage for prescription drugs in the United States. Australia has both a "public option" and private insurers, as does the U.S. Medicare program for hospital and physician care.

Which country's health insurance system does your proposal most resemble?

We arrived at our proposal by using the approach that comes naturally to us from our economics training. We first defined the objective, namely the problem we are trying but failing to solve with our current U.S. health care policy. Once we were clear on the goal, we then considered how best to achieve that goal, which led us to the key design elements we've described. Nonetheless, once we did this, we were struck—and humbled—to realize that at a high level, our proposal contains several key components that essentially every high-income country has embraced: guaranteed basic coverage that must be delivered within a fixed budget (two things the United States currently doesn't have) and the option for people to purchase upgrades.

The experience of other countries provides another reassuring observation. Although we developed our proposal from first principles—by focusing on the problem that must be solved and what is essential to that solution—the proposal does not require new institutions or mechanisms. Nor does it require crazy new contraptions dreamed up on our blackboards and untested in the real world. The lack of universal U.S. health insurance may be exceptional. The fix, it turns out, is not.

However, the specifics of our proposal can't be found lock, stock, and barrel in any existing country's system. They constitute a mix and match of particular aspects that, in our opinion, particular countries have managed to get right. Our insistence that patients be automatically covered and not pay anything for their covered care looks like the universal coverage programs in the UK and Canada and very much unlike the programs in most other high-income countries. But our advice on how to structure payments for the supplemental system is very different from the approach taken in the UK or Canada to the extent that they allow such supplemental coverage at all. Rather, it is closer to the approach found in countries like Singapore, Israel, and Switzerland. These countries, however, also require substantial patient cost sharing in the basic coverage, something that we reject.

How will your proposal reduce the high levels of waste in U.S. health care?

It won't. From Nixon to Clinton to Obama, presidents have bundled proposals for universal coverage with proposals to reduce the level of health care spending (Galvani et al. 2020; Obama 2008; Seervai and Blumenthal 2017). The instinct is understandable. After all, coverage and costs are arguably the two great problems in the U.S. health care system.

But these problems are eminently separable. We do not have to hold our health care commitments hostage to finding a way to get more health for the same total level of spending or the same health benefits at lower cost.

How can this happen politically?

Most conversations about health insurance reform start by asking what we think we can do politically. We don't think that's the place to start. We need to first articulate the ideal, before we can worry about how to get there, or what kinds of compromises we can live with while still achieving the key goals.

Moreover, it's not our comparative advantage to think about the politics. Our hope is to persuade people about the ideal, the "north star." If we succeed, then hopefully others—more skilled than we are—can figure out how it may be possible to navigate to this solution or to keep their eyes peeled for opportunities as policy windows appear.

We've envisioned a solution that involves starting from scratch, but it's possible that others will see a way to achieve it through a series of incremental reforms. We've envisioned a national reform, but it's also possible that—as has so often happened in our health policy system—an innovative state might lead the way.

In short, while we don't know exactly how this would happen politically, we want to end on a note of cautious optimism. For, as we explain in our book's epilogue, our reading of the historical record in both the United States and abroad suggests that it was not our destiny to be—nor is our destiny to remain—the only high-income country without universal health care coverage. The first step is to agree on where we need to go.

Endnotes

- 1. Wherever possible, we use statistics from 2019 or, if unavailable, as recent as possible up to 2019. We avoid post-2019 numbers because they may be distorted by the Covid pandemic.
- 2. Some examples of the discussions surrounding the decision to have Medicare patients pay for some of their care can be found in Advisory Council on Social Security (1965), Hearing Before the Committee on Ways and Means (1961), and Hearing before the Committee on Ways and Means (1959; 1961).
- 3. In a later patch, a law that went into effect in 2023, almost a half century after the original coverage, allows certain patients to maintain Medicare coverage for transplant immunosuppressant drugs—but not related to transplant medications—indefinitely after a successful transplant. For more information, see National Kidney Foundation (2023) and Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (n.d.a.).

References

- Advisory Council on Social Security. 1965. "Report of the Advisory Council on Social Security: The Status of the Social Security Program and Recommendations for Its Improvement." Social Security Bulletin 28 (3): 3–41.
- Atun, Rifat, Luiz Odorico Monteiro De Andrade, Gisele Almeida, Daniel Cotlear, Tania Dmytraczenko, Patricia Frenz, Patrícia Garcia, Octavio Gómez-Dantés, Felicia M. Knaul, and Carles Muntaner. 2015. "Health-System Reform and Universal Health Coverage in Latin America." The Lancet 385 (2015): 1230–47.
- Auraaen, Ane, Rie Fujisawa, Gregoire De Lagasnerie, and Valérie Paris. 2016. "How OECD Health Systems Define the Range of Good and Services to Be Financed Collectively." Working Paper, OECD, Paris, France.
- Ball, Robert M. 1966. "The First 60 Days of Medicare." Journal of the National Medical Association 58 (6): 475–79.
- — . 1995. "Perspectives on Medicare." Health Affairs 14 (4): 62–72.
- Barros, Pedro P., Rita Cristivao, and Pedro Andrade Gomes. 2013. "Portugal." In *Waiting Time Policies in the Healthcare Sector: What Works?*, edited by Luigi Siciliani, Michael Borowitz and Valerie Moran, 237–61. Paris, France: OECD.
- Bath, Gemma. 2021. "100 Mums on Their Experience Giving Birth in a Public or Private Hospital." *Mamamia*. https://www. mamamia.com.au/difference-private-public-birth.
- Bennett, Neil, Jonathan Eggleston, Laryssa Mykyta, and Bryan Sullivan. 2021. "19% of U.S. Households Could Not Afford to Pay for Medical Care Right Away." U.S. Census Bureau, Washington, DC. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2021/04/ who-had-medical-debt-in-united-states.html.
- Berenson, Robert A., and Dean M. Harris. 2002. "Using Managed Care Tools in Traditional Medicare: Should We? Could We?" *Law and Contemporary Problems* 65 (4): 139–67.
- Blagg, Christopher R. 2007. "The Early History of Dialysis for Chronic Renal Failure in the United States: A View from Seattle." American Journal of Kidney Diseases 49 (3): 482–96.
- Brooks, Tricia, Lauren Roygardner, Olivia Pham, and Rachel Dolan. 2020. "Medicaid and CHIP Eligibility, Enrollment, and Cost Sharing Policies as of January 2020: Findings from a 50-State Survey-Tables." Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.
- Cama, Shireen, Monica Malowney, Anna Jo Bodurtha Smith, Margaret Spottswood, Elisa Cheng, Louis Ostrowsky, Jose Rengifo, and J. Wesley Boyd. 2017. "Availability of Outpatient Mental Health Care by Pediatricians and Child Psychiatrists in Five U.S. Cities." International Journal of Health Services 47 (4): 621–35.
- Causey, Mike. 1990. "An Umbrella for Hostages." Washington Post, December 9, 1990.
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. n.d.a. "How Original Medicare Works." Accessed February 23, 2022. https://www.medicare.gov/what-medicare-covers/your-medicare-coverage-choices/ how-original-medicare-works.
- ———. n.d.b. "Medicare Part B Immunosuppressive Drug Benefit." Accessed August 21, 2023. https://www.cms.gov/partbidprovider.vb.

- ——. 2018. "Enrolling in Medicare Part A & Part B." https://www. medicare.gov/Pubs/pdf/11036-Enrolling-Medicare-Part-A-Part-B.pdf.
- Chevreul, Karine, Berg Brigham, Isabelle Durand-Zaleski, and Cristina Hernández-Quevedo. 2015. "France: Health System Review." *Health Systems and Policies* 17 (3): 87–90.
- Clalit Health Fund. 2021."שירותים בתשלום." https://www.clalit. co.il/he/info/about_site/Pages/sherutim_betashlum.aspx.
- Claxton, Gary, Matthew Rae, Gregory Young, Daniel McDermott, Heidi Whitmore, Jason Kerns, Jackie Cifuentes, Anthony Damico, and Larry Strange. 2020. "2020 Employer Health Benefits Survey." Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.
- Colombo, Francesca, and Nicole Tapay. 2003. "Private Health Insurance in Australia: A Case Study." Working Paper, OECD, Paris, France.
- Congressional Research Service. 2017. "Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant: Background and Funding." Authored by Victoria L. Elliott, Report R44929. Congressional Research Service, Washington, DC.
- Cooper, Alicia L., and Amal N. Trivedi. 2012. "Fitness Memberships and Favorable Selection in Medicare Advantage Plans." New England Journal of Medicine 366 (2): 150–57.
- Cooper, Zack, and Fiona Scott Morton. 2016. "Out-of-Network Emergency-Physician Bills—An Unwelcome Surprise." *New England Journal of Medicine* 375 (20): 1915–18.
- Cooper, Zack, Fiona Scott Morton, and Nathan Shekita. 2020. "Surprise! Out-of-Network Billing for Emergency Care in the United States." *Journal of Political Economy* 128 (9).
- Cox, Cynthia, and Daniel McDermott. 2020. "Millions of Uninsured Americans Are Eligible for Free ACA Health Insurance." Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.
- Cubanski, Juliette, Wyatt Koma, Anthony Damico, and Tricia Neuman. 2019. "How Much Do Medicare Beneficiaries Spend Out of Pocket on Health Care?" Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.
- Curto, Vilsa, Liran Einav, Jonathan Levin, and Jay Bhattacharya. "Can Health Insurance Competition Work? Evidence from Medicare Advantage." *Journal of Political Economy* 129 (2) (2021): 570–606.
- Cutler, David M., and Richard J. Zeckhauser. 2000. "The Anatomy of Health Insurance." In *Handbook of Health Economics*, edited by A. J. Culyer and J. P. Newhouse, 563–643. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Delamothe, Tony. 2008. "A Centrally Funded Health Service, Free at the Point of Delivery." *British Medical Journal* 336 (7658): 1410–12.
- Denmark Ministry of Health and Prevention. 2008. "Health Care in Denmark." https://www.ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/2047/ health%20in%20Denmark.pdf.
- Deutcher Bundestag. 2012. "Deutscher Bundestag Bundestag schafft einstimmig die Praxisgebühr ab [Bundestag unanimously abolishes the practice fee]." https://www.bundestag.de/webarchiv/textarchiv/2012/41447099_kw45_de_ praxisgebuehr-209922.
- Einav, Liran, and Amy Finkelstein. 2018. "Moral Hazard in Health Insurance: What We Know and How We Know It." *Journal of European Economic Association*, 16(4): 957–82.

- ----. 2023a. We've Got You Covered: Rebooting American Health Care. New York: Penguin.
- ---. 2023b. "Uncertain Health Insurance." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 120 (18).
- Emanuel, Ezekiel J. 2020. Which Country Has the World's Best Health Care? New York: PublicAffairs.
- Finkelstein, Amy, Nathaniel Hendren, and Erzo F.P. Luttmer. 2019. "The Value of Medicaid: Interpreting Results from the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment." *Journal of Political Economy* 127 (6): 2836–74.
- Finkelstein, Amy, Neale Mahoney, and Matthew J. Notowidigdo. 2018. "What Does (Formal) Health Insurance Do, and for Whom?" Annual Review of Economics 10 (1): 261–86.
- Finkelstein, Amy, Sarah Taubman, Bill Wright, Mira Bernstein, Jonathan Gruber, Joseph Newhouse, Heidi Allen, and Katherine Baicker. 2012. "The Oregon Health Insurance Experiment: Evidence from the First Year." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 127 (3): 1057–106.
- Flood, Colleen M., and Tom Archibald. 2001. "The Illegality of Private Health Care in Canada." *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 164 (6): 825–30.
- Fontenot, Keith, Caitlin Brandt, and Mark B. McClellan. 2015. "A Primer on Medicare Physician Payment Reform and the SGR." Blog. Brookings Institution, Washington, DC. February 2, 2015.
- Freed, Gary L., Erin Turbitt, and Amy Allen. 2016. "Public or Private Care: Where Do Specialists Spend Their Time?" *Australian Health Review* 41 (5): 541–45.
- Gai, Yunwei, and Kent Jones. 2020. "Insurance Patterns and Instability from 2006 to 2016." *BMC Health Services Research* 20 (1): 334.
- Galvani, Alison P., Alyssa S. Parpia, Eric M. Foster, Burton H. Singer, and Meagan C. Fitzpatrick. 2020. "Improving the Prognosis of Health Care in the U.S.A." *The Lancet* 395, no. (10223): 524–33.
- Garthwaite, Craig, Tal Gross, and Matthew J. Notowidigdo. 2018. "Hospitals as Insurers of Last Resort." American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 10 (1): 1–39.
- Geruso, Michael, Timothy J. Layton, and Jacob Wallace. 2023. "What Difference Does a Health Plan Make? Evidence from Random Plan Assignment in Medicaid." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 15 (3): 341–79.
- Gladwell, Malcolm. 2005. "The Moral-Hazard Myth." New Yorker, August 29, 2005.
- Gomes, Pedro. 2016. "Integrated Management System of the Waiting List for Elective Surgery." European Union of Medical Specialists.
- Gomez, Ivette, Usha Ranji, Alina Salganicoff, and Brittni Frederiksen. 2022. "Medicaid Coverage for Women." Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.
- Gordon, Elisa J., Thomas R. Prohaska, and Ashwini R. Sehgal. 2008. "The Financial Impact of Immunosuppressant Expenses on New Kidney Transplant Recipients." *Clinical Transplantation* 22 (6): 738–48.
- Gross, Tal, Timothy J. Layton, and Daniel Prinz. 2022. "The Liquidity Sensitivity of Healthcare Consumption: Evidence from Social Security Payments." *American Economic Review: Insights* 4 (2): 175–90.
- Hacker, Jacob S., ed. 2008. "The New Push for American Health Security." In Health at Risk: America's Ailing Health System and How to Heal It. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.
- Hamel, Liz, Mira Norton, Karen Pollitz, Larry Levitt, Gary Claxton, and Mollyann Brodie. 2016. "The Burden of Medical Debt: Results from the Kaiser Family Foundation/New York Times Medical Bills Survey." Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.

- Hearing Before the Committee on Ways and Means, House of Representatives, 86th Congress, 1959. "H.R. 4700: A Bill to Amend the Social Security Act and the Internal Revenue Code so as to Provide Insurance against the Costs of Hospital, Nursing Home, and Surgical Service for Persons Eligible for Old-Age and Survivors Insurance Benefits, and for Other Purposes."
- Hearing Before the Committee on Ways and Means, House of Representatives, 87th Congress, 1961. "First session on H.R. 4222, a Bill to Provide for Payment for Hospital Services, Skilled Nursing Home Services, and Home Health Services Furnished to Aged Beneficiaries under the Old-Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance Program, and for Other Purposes."
- Helse Norge. 2019. "Your Rights in Case of Exceeded Waiting Time." September 23, 2019. https:// www.helsenorge.no/en/health-rights-in-norway/ Your-rights-in-case-of-exceeded-waiting-time.
- Hsiang, Walter, Adam Lukasiewicz, Mark Gentry, Chang-Yeon Kim, Michael P. Leslie, Richard Pelker, Howard P. Forman, and Daniel H. Wiznia. 2019. "Medicaid Patients Have Greater Difficulty Scheduling Health Care Appointments Compared With Private Insurance Patients: A Meta-Analysis." Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing 56.
- Johns, Lucy, and Gerald S. Adler. 1989. "Evaluation of Recent Changes in Medicaid." *Health Affairs* 8 (1): 171–81.
- Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF). 2019a. "2019 Employer Health Benefits Survey: Summary of Findings." Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.
- ----. 2019b. "Coverage of Breast Cancer Screening and Prevention Services." Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.
- ——. 2020. "Total Number of Medicare Beneficiaries in 2019." Kaiser Family Foundation, San Francisco, CA.
- Keisler-Starkey, Katherine, and Lisa N Bunch. 2020. *Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2019.* Current Population Reports. U.S.Census Bureau, Washington, DC.
- — 2021. Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2020. Current Population Reports. U.S.Census Bureau, Washington, DC.
- Kempski, Ann, and Ann Greiner. 2020. "Primary Care Spending: High Stakes, Low Investment." Primary Care Collaborative.
- Kluender, Raymond, Neale Mahoney, Francis Wong, and Wesley Yin. 2021. "Medical Debt in America: Scale, Prevalence, and Effects on Patient Financial Health." JAMA 326 (3): 250–56.
- Kulakiewicz, Aaron, Elizabeth Parkin, and Tom Powell. 2022. "NHS Charges." House of Commons Library.
- Lantz, Paula M., Carol S. Weisman, and Zena Itani. 2003. "A Disease-Specific Medicaid Expansion for Women: The Breast and Cervical Cancer Prevention and Treatment Act of 2000." Women's Health Issues 13 (3): 79–92.
- Lee, Nancy C., Faye L. Wong, Patricia M. Jamison, Sandra F. Jones, Louise Galaska, Kevin T. Brady, Barbara Wethers, and George-Ann Stokes-Townsend. 2014. "Implementation of the National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program." *Cancer* 12 (16): 2540–48.
- Lee, Tiana M. 2004. "An EMTALA Primer: The Impact of Changes in the Emergency Medicine Landscape on EMTALA Compliance and Enforcement." *Annals of Health Law* 13 (1): 145–78.
- Levinson, Adam. 2018. "Act for the Relief of Sick and Disabled Seamen." Blog. *Statutes and Stories*. April 29, 2018.
- Levinson, Daniel R. 2014. Access to Care: Provider Availability in Medicaid Managed Care. Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Inspector General, Washington, DC.
- Martin, Sara, Robert L. Phillips, Stephen Petterson, Zachary Levin, and Andrew W. Bazemore. 2020. "Primary Care Spending in the United States, 2002–2016." JAMA Internal Medicine 180 (7): 1019–20.
- McDonald, Douglas C. 1999. "Medical Care in Prisons." Crime and Justice 26: 427–78.

McGuire, Thomas G., Joseph P. Newhouse, and Anna D. Sinaiko. 2011. "An Economic History of Medicare Part C." *The Milbank Quarterly* 89 (2): 289–332.

- McGuire, Thomas G., and Joseph P. Newhouse. 2018. "Medicare Advantage: Regulated Competition in the Shadow of a Public Option." In *Risk Adjustment, Risk Sharing and Premium Regulation in Health Insurance Markets*, edited by Thomas G. McGuire and Richard C. van Kleef, 563–98. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Mihm, Uta. 2020. "Do You Need Health Insurance to Have a Baby?" *CHOICE*. https://www.choice.com.au/babies-andkids/getting-ready-for-baby/planning-for-baby/articles/ health-insurance-for-pregnancy-and-birth.
- Murray, Charles. 2016. *In Our Hands: A Plan to Replace the Welfare State*. Washington, DC: American Enterprise Institute.
- National Kidney Foundation. 2023. "Breaking Down New Extended Medicare Coverage for Immunosuppressive Drugs." https://www.kidney.org/newsletter/breakingdown-newextended-medicare-coverage-immunosuppressive-drugs. National Kidney Foundation, McLean, VA.
- Newhouse, Joseph P., and Thomas G. McGuire. 2014. "How Successful Is Medicare Advantage?" *The Milbank Quarterly* 92 (2): 351–94.
- Obama, Barack. 2008. "Remarks of Senator Barack Obama: Health Care Town Hall." Vote Smart. https://justfacts.votesmart.org/public-statement/346763/remarks-of-senatorbarack-obama-health-care-town-hall/.
- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). 2020. Waiting Times for Health Services: Next in Line. OECD, Paris, France.
- ———. 2022. "Total Health Spending, % of GDP, 1970–2020, Annual 5 Highlighted Countries (CAN, DEU, FRA, GBR, U.S.A)." OECD, Paris, France. https://data.oecd.org/chart/6DeG.
- Paris, Valérie, Marion Devaux, and Lihan Wei. 2010. "Health Systems Institutional Characteristics: A Survey of 29 OECD Countries." Working Paper 50, OECD, Paris, France.
- Patel, Yash M., and Stuart Guterman. 2017 "The Evolution of Private Plans in Medicare." Issue Brief (Commonwealth Fund) vol. 2017 1-10.
- Pinker, Susan. 1999. "The Chaoulli Case: One-Tier Medicine Goes on Trial in Quebec." *CMAJ* 161 (10): 1305–6.
- Rettig, Richard A. 2017. "Special Treatment—The Story of Medicare's ESRD Entitlement." *New England Journal of Medicine* 364 (7): 596–98.
- Rivett, Geoffrey. 2019. "The History of the NHS." The Nuffield Trust. https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/ health-and-social-care-explained/the-history-of-the-nhs.
- Sagan, Anna, and Sarah Thomson, eds. 2016. Voluntary Health Insurance in Europe: Country Experience. Geneva, Switzer-
- land: World Health Organization. Saloner, Brendan, Adam S. Wilk, Douglas Wissoker, Molly Candon, Katherine Hempstead, Karin V. Rhodes, Daniel E. Polsky, and Genevieve M. Kenney. 2019. "Changes in Primary Care Access at Community Health Centers between 2012/2013 and 2016." *Health Services Research* 54 (1): 181.
- Samuel, Terence. 2015. "Doc Fix Deal Produces Rare Bipartisan Celebration at the White House." *Washington Post*, April 21, 2015.
- Seervai, Shanoor, and David Blumenthal. "Lessons on Universal Coverage from an Unexpected Advocate: Richard Nixon." *To the Point* (blog), The Commonwealth Fund, New York, New York. November 2, 2017.
- Siciliani, Luigi, Michael Borowitz, and Valerie Moran, eds. 2013. Waiting Time Policies in the Health Sector: What Works? OECD, Paris, France.
- Singapore Ministry of Health. 2020. "Admissions and Outpatient Attendances." https://www.moh.gov. sg/resources-statistics/singapore-health-facts/ admissions-and-outpatient-attendances.

- Skinner, Jonathan, Eli Cahan, and Victor R. Fuchs. 2022. "Stabilizing Health Care's Share of the GDP." New England Journal of Medicine 386 (8).
- Social Security Administration. 2020. "President Signs S. 578, the 'ALS Disability Insurance Access Act of 2019." https:// www.ssa.gov/legislation/legis_bulletin_122220.html.
- State of Israel. 2014. "הוועדה המייעצת לחיזוק מערכת הבריאות". הציבורית " https://www.health.gov.il/PublicationsFiles/ publichealth2014. pdf.
- State of Michigan. 2013. "Facts about Medicaid Expansion: Improving Care, Saving Money." http://www.michigan.gov/ documents/snyder/Medicaid_expansion_-_factsheet_final_2-6-13_410658_7.pdf.
- Stone, Deborah. 2011. "Moral Hazard." Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law 36 (5): 889.
- Straus, Robert. 1950. Medical Care for Seamen: The Origin of Public Medical Service in the United States, vol. 1. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Tambor, Marzena, Milena Pavlova, Piotr Woch, and Wim Groot. 2011. "Diversity and Dynamics of Patient Cost-Sharing for Physicians' and Hospital Services in the 27 European Union Countries." The European Journal of Public Health 21 (5): 585–90.
- Tikkanen, Roosa, Robin Osborn, Elias Mossialos, Ana Djordjevic, and George Wharton. 2020a. "International Health Care System Profiles: France." The Commonwealth Fund, New York City, New York.
- ---. 2020b. "International Health Care System Profiles: Singapore." The Commonwealth Fund, New York City, New York.
- Treiger, Karen I. 1986. "Preventing Patient Dumping: Sharpening the Cobra's Fangs." New York University Law Review 61 (6): 1186–223.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General. 1993. "Medicaid Cost Sharing." Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.
- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. 2019. "VA Launches New Health Care Options under MISSION Act." VAntage Point (blog), U.S.Department of Veterans Affairs, Washington, DC. June 6, 2019.
- White, Joseph. 1995. Competing Solutions: American Health Care Proposals and International Experience. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Williams, Sally, and James Buchan. 2006. "Assessing the New NHS Consultant Contract: A Something for Something Deal?" The King's Fund. https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/ publications/assessing-new-nhs-consultant-contract.
- Willis, Karen, and Sophie Lewis. 2022. "Which Are Better, Public or Private Hospitals?" The Conversation. Accessed February 15, 2022. http://theconversation.com/ which-are-better-public-or-private-hospitals-54338.
- World Health Organization. n.d. "Indicators and Data." Global Health Expenditure Database.
- https://apps.who.int/nha/database/Select/Indicators/en.
- Wall Street Journal Editorial. 2005. "Unsocialized Medicine." Wall Street Journal, June 13, 2005.
- Wynne, Billy. 2015. "May the Era of Medicare's Doc Fix (1997– 2015) Rest in Peace: Now What." Health Affairs Forefront (blog), Health Affairs, Washington, DC. April 15, 2015.
- Wysolmerski, Michael, Katie Garfield, Amy Rosenberg, and Robert Greenwald. 2015. "The Medicaid Tuberculosis Option: An Opportunity for Policy Reform." Center for Health Law and Policy Innovation, Harvard Law School, Cambridge, MA.
- Zare, Hossein, and Gerard Anderson. "Trends in Cost Sharing among Selected High Income Countries—2000–2010." Health Policy 112 (1–2): 35–44.



ADVISORY COUNCIL

GEORGE A. AKERLOF University Professor, Georgetown University

ROGER C. ALTMAN Founder and Senior Chairman, Evercore

KAREN L. ANDERSON Managing Director, Social Finance Institute

ALAN S. BLINDER Gordon S. Rentschler Memorial Professor of Economics and Public Affairs, Princeton University; Nonresident Senior Fellow, The Brookings Institution

RAY DALIO Founder, CIO Mentor, and Member of the Bridgewater Board, Bridgewater Associates

BRIAN DEESE Former Director, National Economic Council

STEVEN A. DENNING Chairman Emeritus, General Atlantic

JOHN M. DEUTCH Institute Professor, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

WILLIAM C. DUDLEY Senior Advisor, Griswold Center for Economic Policy Studies, Princeton University

CHRISTOPHER EDLEY, JR. Interim Dean, Berkeley School of Education; Dean Emeritus, Berkeley Law School

BLAIR W. EFFRON Partner, Centerview Partners LLC

DOUGLAS W. ELMENDORF Dean and Don K. Price Professor of Public Policy, Harvard Kennedy School

JUDY FEDER Professor and Founding Dean, McCourt School of Public Policy, Georgetown University

MICHAEL FROMAN President, Council on Foreign Relations

JASON FURMAN Aetna Professor of the Practice of Economic Policy, Harvard University; Senior Fellow, Peterson Institute for International Economics; Senior Counselor, The Hamilton Project

MARK T. GALLOGLY Cofounder, Three Cairns Group TED GAYER President, Niskanen Center

TIMOTHY F. GEITHNER Chairman, Warburg Pincus; Senior Counselor, The Hamilton Project

ROBERT GREENSTEIN Visiting Fellow, The Hamilton Project, Economic Studies, The Brookings Institution; Founder and President Emeritus, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities

MICHAEL GREENSTONE

Milton Friedman Professor in Economics and the College, Director of the Becker Friedman Institute for Research in Economics, and Director, Energy Policy Institute, University of Chicago

BEN HARRIS Vice President and Director, Economic Studies, The Brookings Institution

GLENN H. HUTCHINS Co-Chair, Tvhe Brookings Institution; Chairman, North Island and North Island Ventures

LAWRENCE F. KATZ Elisabeth Allison Professor of Economics, Harvard University

MELISSA S. KEARNEY Director, Aspen Economic Strategy Group; Neil Moskowitz Professor of Economics, University of Maryland; Nonresident Senior Fellow, The Brookings Institution

EUGENE A. LUDWIG 27th Comptroller of the Currency; Founder and CEO, Ludwig Advisors

LILI LYNTON Founding Partner, Boulud Restaurant Group

HOWARD S. MARKS Co-Chairman, Oaktree Capital Management, L.P.

KRISTON MCINTOSH Chief Communications Officer, American Civil Liberties Union

ERIC MINDICH Founder, Everblue Management

SUZANNE NORA JOHNSON Co-Chair, The Brookings Institution; Former Vice Chairman, Goldman Sachs Groups, Inc.

PETER ORSZAG CEO, Financial Advisory, Lazard Freres & Co LLC

PENNY PRITZKER Chairman and Founder, PSP Partners; 38th Secretary of Commerce MEEGHAN PRUNTY Principal, PE Strategic Partners

ROBERT D. REISCHAUER Distinguished Institute Fellow and President Emeritus, Urban Institute

NANCY L. ROSE Charles P. Kindleberger Professor of Applied Economics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

DAVID M. RUBENSTEIN Co-Founder and Co-Chairman, The Carlyle Group

ROBERT E. RUBIN Former U.S. Treasury Secretary; Co-Chair Emeritus, Council on Foreign Relations

LESLIE B. SAMUELS Senior Counsel, Cleary Gottlieb Steen and Hamilton LLP

DIANE WHITMORE SCHANZENBACH

Margaret Walker Alexander Professor, Northwestern University; Associate Provost and Senior Advisor to the President for Academic Excellence, University of Florida; Nonresident Senior Fellow, The Brookings Institution

RALPH L. SCHLOSSTEIN Chairman Emeritus, Evercore

ERIC SCHMIDT Co-Founder, Schmidt Futures; Former CEO and Chairman, Google

ERIC SCHWARTZ Chairman and CEO, 76 West Holdings

THOMAS F. STEYER Co-Executive Chair, Galvanize Climate Solutions

JOSHUA L. STEINER Partner, SSW Partners

MICHAEL R. STRAIN Director of Economic Policy Studies and Arthur F. Burns Scholar in Political Economy, American Enterprise Institute

LAWRENCE H. SUMMERS Charles W. Eliot University Professor, Harvard University

ALLEN THORPE Partner, Hellman & Friedman

LAURA D'ANDREA TYSON Distinguished Professor of the Graduate School, University of California, Berkeley

WENDY EDELBERG Director U.S. health insurance policy has proceeded incrementally, and haphazardly, for over half a century. In this proposal we consider what an ideal system would look like, freed from political, but not economic, constraints. We start by articulating the goal behind our policy history, arguing that it reflects an attempt to fulfill a societal commitment to try to provide access to essential health care regardless of resources. From this perspective, we identify three fundamental issues with the state of U.S. health insurance coverage: the uninsured, the widespread risk of insurance loss for those who have insurance at any given moment, and the potential for catastrophic medical bills even for those who maintain their coverage. The solution we propose is universal basic coverage, with an option to buy supplemental coverage in a well-designed market. The universal coverage would be provided automatically and for free—without any patient fees—but it would be quite basic, similar to what Medicaid enrollees currently receive. A budget would be set and imposed to force decisions about what is included in that basic coverage.



Burden of medical debt, by health insurance status, 2018

Source: Kluender et al. 2021; Survey of Income and Program Participation 2018; authors' calculations.

Note: The left bar considers the set of households who have any medical debt, and shows what share of them are insured or not. The right bar shows the share of total medical debt that is held by households with health insurance and the share held by households without health insurance. Those who are not insured every month are households that reported at least one month of no health insurance coverage in 2018.





www.hamiltonproject.org

1775 Massachusetts Ave., NW Washington, DC 20036 (202) 797-6484

ninted on recycled paper